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NATHANIEL SOLON,
Petitioner,
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)

Civil No. ll-CV-303-B
Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B

REPLY TO UNITED STATES' RESPONSE TO THE DEFENDANT'S
MOTION TO VACATE SENTENCE UNDER 28 U.S.C. § 2255
On April 12,2012, the United States filed a response to my motion under 28 U.S.C. §
2255 to have my conviction and sentence in this case set aside. For a variety of reasons, the
United States requests that the motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 be denied. For the reasons set
forth below, I disagree with the United States' assertion that this motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255
be denied and I hereby request an evidentiary hearing.
In its response the government sets out numerous legal reasons as to why this motion
under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 should be denied. These reasons include (but are not limited to) the
language of the motion, failure to provide cogent arguments and analysis, failure to provide legal
1
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authorities, failure to demonstrate prejudice, failure to provide anything more than conclusory
statements, and procedural bar.
I am not an attorney. I am not equipped to understand the legalese presented here. What
I do understand are my constitutional rights, and those rights were violated numerous times
throughout this process. My motion submitted under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 outlines those violations
and provides the supporting facts, or evidence, to back up my claims. The "authority" provided
is the United States Constitution. Under § 2255, a federal prisoner may move to vacate a
sentence when "the sentence was imposed in violation of the Constitution... of the United
States..." 28 U.S.C. § 2255. The "actual prejudice" should be obvious-I am in prison. The
"cause," or failure to raise these issues at any time during the process, were decisions made by
my attorneys. If I had been provided with the assistance of effective counsel, the outcome ofthis
case would have been different as is evidenced by the recent decision of the Tenth Circuit Court
of Appeals in United States v. Dobbs, No. 09-5025 (January 5, 2011).
Because I am acting without an attorney, or pro se, the Court has a higher standard when
faced with a motion to dismiss. White v. Bloom, 621 F.2d 276 makes this point clear and states:
"A court faced with a motion to dismiss a pro se complaint must read the complaint's allegations
expansively, Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519,520-21,92 S. Ct. 594, 596, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652
(1972), and take them as true for purposes of deciding whether they state a claim. Cruz v. Beta,
405 U.S. 319, 322, 92 S. Ct. 1079,1081,31 L. Ed. 2d 263 (1972)." Moreover, "the court is
under a duty to examine the complaint to determine if the allegations provide for relief on any
2
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possible theory." Bonner v. Circuit Court olS!. Louis, 526 F.2d 1331, 1334 (8th Cir. 1975)
(quoting Bramlet v. Wilson, 495 Fold 714, 716 (8th Cir. 1974)).
The courts provide pro se parties wide latitude when construing their pleadings and
papers. When interpreting pro

~;e

papers, the Court should use common sense to detennine what

relief the party desires. SE.C v. Elliott, 953 Fold 1560, 1582 (lIth Cir. 1992). See also, United

States v. Miller, 197 F.3d 644, 648 (3rd Cir. 1999) (Court has special obligation to construe pro
se litigants' pleadings liberally); Poling v. K. Hovnanian Enterprises, 99 F.Suppold 502, 506-07
(D.N.J.2000).
I.

SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE
The government claims that a number of the challenges presented in this motion under 28

U.S.C. § 2255 are nothing more than sufficiency of the evidence claims which cannot be raised
or considered in the first instance in a § 2255 motion proceeding. Those challenges include
Challenge II of Ground One and Challenges I through IV of Ground Five. Though not stated in
the government's response, Challenge I of Ground One also fits into a sufficiency of evidence
argument.
•

Ground One, Challenge I argues my Fifth Amendment guarantee of due process
was violated when Mr. Anderson, in bad faith, ignored my right to be presumed
innocent and failed to find the truth.

•

Ground One, Challenge II argues my Sixth Amendment right to trial by an
IMPARTIAL jury was violated by Mr. Anderson when in bad faith he misled the
3
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jury and the Court into trusting that his forensic computer expert was highly
qualified in detelmining whether or not a person KNOWINGLY possessed child
pornography.
•

Ground Five, Challenge I argues the Government did not have sufficient

evidence that I KNOWINGLY possessed and KNOWINGLY attempted to
receive child pornography as charged in the Superseding Indictment. In fact, I
challenge that the Government did not have ANY evidence against me that I
KNOWINGL Y committed this crime.
•

Ground Five, Challenge II is based upon the files shown to the jury on

November 5, 2008. The "evidence" was alleged to have been on my computer on
June 23, 2006 and September 20,2006. However, there was no evidence
whatsoever that any of these files had ever been viewed.
•

Ground Five, Challenge III is based upon the repeated accusation that I used

"search terms" to download child pornography. The testimony indicates that the
Prosecution's Forensic Computer Expert did not even know how to locate what
"search terms" had been entered into my computer.
•

Ground! Five, Challenge IV is based on Government Exhibit 39, the AVAST

(Anti-Virus Software) Report from my computer, which confirmed my computer
was infested with viruses and Trojans that allowed my computer to be open to
someone remotely accessing it without my knowledge. The fact there is no proof
4
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that I knowingly committed this crime, along with the fact that malware was
present on my computer, which made my computer vulnerable to hackers, is a
combination that creates more than enough reasonable doubt.
As the government points out in its response, the above challenges constitute sufficiency
of evidence arguments. The government also points out that "a § 2255 claimant may raise a
claim that his trial or appellate counsel was ineffective for not challenging the sufficiency of
evidence. Boyle v. McKune, 544 F.3d 1132, 1140 (lOth Cir. 2008)."

1

The Tenth Circuit's ruling in Boyle v. McKune states:
"Appellate counsel cannot be deficient for failing to raise a frivolous argument.
Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 278, 120 S. Ct. 746, 145 L. Ed. 2d 756 (2000).
The Sixth Amendment's right to counsel "does not include the right to counsel for
bringing a frivolous appeal." Smith, 528 U.S. at 278; see also Cargle v. Mullin,
317 F.3d 1196, 1202 (lOth Cir. 2003) ("[O]f course, if the issue is meritless, its
omission will not constitute deficient performance."). To prevail on a sufficiency
of-the-evidence .claim, a defendant must meet the high burden of showing "upon
the record evidence adduced at the trial no rational trier of fact could have found
proof of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 324,
99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979); see also Slale v. Knelzer, 3 Kan. App. 2d
673, 600 P.2d 160, 161 (Kan. 1979) ("In challenging the sufficiency of the
evidence, the defendant faces a heavy burden.")."
Ground Two, Challenge II, of my § 2255 motion presents the argument that there was
ineffective assistance on the pa1: of my appellate attorney for not raising on appeal the fact that

1

SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response

to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.s.c. § 2255. Page 77. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
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there was no concrete evidence supporting that I knowingly possessed or received child
pornography.

2

In other words, she didn't raise a sufficiency-of-the-evidence argument.

This is not a frivolous argument, or a meritless issue; sufficiency of the evidence should
have been raised. Challenges I and II of GroWld One, and Challenges I through IV of Ground
Five in my § 2255 motion outline the fact there is absolutely no evidence that I knew there was
child pornography on my computer. This is not a frivolous argument; it is the main argument
and my attorney was deficient in not raising it.
In addition, contrary to what the government argues in their response, citing United

States v. Haymond, _ F.3d, 2012 WL 698376, *5 (lOth Cir. 3/6/12), the government's
evidence hasn't met the requirements set out in Haymond, one of which is: "To convict [a
defendant], the government was required to prove he knew of and also controlled (or at least had
the ability to access and control) the particular images that fonned the basis of the conviction."
The facts bear out that the govemment has not done that. Therefore, my attorney was deficient
in this matter, and I hereby request an evidentiary hearing regarding the facts in this case.
To counteract a sufficiency of the evidence argument, the government argues:
"As the Tenth Circuit noted,
ltlhe government's case was strong. Mr. Solon's computer was observed
online offering child pornography for download on June 23 and August 9,
10, and 11,2006. A search ofMr. Solon's computer's hard drive revealed
that on September 20, 2006, forty-six files with names consistent with

2

ibid. Motion under 28 U.S.c. § 2255 to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Sentence by a Person in Federal Custody.

Attachment A. Page 126. Document 1. Filed 9/7/11.
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child pomography were downloaded using Limewire, a peer-to-peer file
sharing pTOgram. Furthermore, Mr. Solon admitted to using Limewire on
Septembe:r 20 to attempt to download two computer games. Additionally,
the government presented evidence that Mr. Solon was playing online
poker on his computer less than five minutes before the child pomography
files werE downloaded.
United States v. Solon, 569 F.3d 1206, 1212 (10th Cir. 2009) (emphasis added)."
Further into their response, the government repeats this argument again, maintaining that
"the Tenth Circuit described the government's evidence as "strong. United States v. Solon, 596
F.3d 1213." 4
The government's case was not strong. The fact that I was on the computer, using
Limewire, and playing poker immediately before the files began downloading, is not evidence
that it was me who sought out and downloaded the files. For people who understand computer
malware and how Trojans operate, this "strong" evidence the government refers to is actually
"strong" evidence supporting the possibility of an outside attack. Yet no further investigation
was conducted to uncover the truth.
During trial, the defense expert, Ms. Loehrs, testified that when a person has a computer
infected with a Trojan, it is at a time when a person is using that infected computer that another
person is able to take control of that computer. Her testimony regarding malware and Trojans,
and how they operate, was never challenged by the prosecution. In addition, her testimony

ibid. United States' Response to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 u.s.c. § 2255. Page 15.
Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
4 ibid. United States' Response to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 68.
Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
3
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regarding the circumstances and vulnerability of my computer were never challenged or
rebutted.
Ms. Loehrs testified that Exhibit I, a log file created by the AVAST anti-virus program
installed on my computer, showed that there were viruses connected with the Grand Theft Auto
game and Madden game, both of which were being downloaded shortly before child
pornography activity began occurring on that computer. Ms. Loehrs clarified, "A lot of these
aren't actually games; they're actually viruses and Trojans that install on your computer."

5

Ms. Loehrs explained that "Trojans are the most devastating because Trojans are the ones
that open up vulnerabilities on the computers." She reiterates that out of all the malware,
Trojans are "the ones that are the most damaging."

6

In her testimony, Ms. Loehrs explained that once a Trojan is sent to your computer and
activated, "it is sitting on your system and sometimes you need only to open up your Internet
browser. That will activate the Trojan. That will then send infonnation to the computer that sent
it and say, "Hey, I have an IP address. I have an open port. Here's a hole for you to get in."
They use their interface and that infonnation to then access your computer." 7 She further
testified that a hacker that has access to the computer knows when the computer is up and
running and knows when it is being used.

8

USA v SOLON. District of Wyoming. Case No. 07-CR-032-B. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume V. Page 44.
November 7,2008.
6 ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceeding5. Volume V. Page 49. November 7,2008.
7 ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume V. Page 50. November 7, 2008.
8 ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume V. Page 98. November 7, 2008.
5
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Ms. Loehrs further explained that Trojans can sometimes be hidden in JavaScript files
and that they are "scripts that tell the computer what to do." A script can be written so that
"when somebody opens their browser," the script will activate, telling the computer to "type in
the search term, go to this foreign website, downJoad this file."

9

Concerning the Zlob Trojan

that was attached to the Madden game, she testified that "every time your Internet browser is
activated, it activates the Zlob Trojan."

10

Since a Zlob Trojan was attached to the Madden game, Ms. Loehrs expanded her
description, testifying that a Zlob Trojan "is a backdoor Trojan. It opens up a door to allow
people to remote into your computer." She further explained that she is "talking about hackers
... somebody who has an IP address and port and a vulnerability on your system allows them to
get in."

II

To further describe exactly how a Zlob Trojan operates, Ms. Loehrs testifies:
"If! were to get on the computer and open up Internet Explorer, that starts that Trojan up.
That Trojan then may send information out to the person who sent it and say, "Hey, here's an IP
address, here's a port, a way for you to get in." And that person can then log in and use your
computer the way you would.
"If I get into your computer, I can use your Internet Explorer. I can use your Limewire. I
can look at your pictures. I can send an e-mail as you."

12

ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume v. Page 58. November 7, 2008.
ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume v. Page 109. November 7, 2008.
11 ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceeding:;. Volume v. Page 49. November 7, 2008.
12 ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume v. Page 110. November 7, 2008.

9
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When asked how she knew the Zlob Trojan came through Limewire, Ms. Loehrs testified
that it was attached to the Madden game. When asked how she knew that the Madden game
came in through Limewire , she testified that she saw Madden in the Limewire incomplete
folder. The govenunent never challenged these facts.

13

Ms. Loehrs explained that in cases where there is a computer that is vulnerable to outside
attack it is very important to "analyze it thoroughly to determine if maybe someone else did this"
because this type of thing "happens all the time," making it look "like the defendant"
downloaded illegal files.

14

She further testified that my computer "had all of the symptoms, all of the things that you
could need to have a vulnerable computer." She states, "He had Limewire. He had his IP
address out there. He had no password. He had open ports. He had evidence of viruses and
Trojans that further made his computer vulnerable."

15

Ms. Loehrs then clarifies that she had not "done all of the investigation to prove that this
computer was hacked into, but it looks really bad. It is very, very open, and very, very
unsecure."

16

To summarize: While testifying about govenunent Exhibit 31, a file download list
showing files that had been attempted to be downloaded using Limewire on the evening of
September 20, 2006, Ms. Loehr:; pointed out the games, including the Madden game which the

ibid.
ibid.
15 ibid.
16 ibid.
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Zlob Trojan was attached to, began to download at 8:00 p.m. Then the files with names that are
indicative of child pornography began downloading at 9: 16 p.m.

17

It has yet to be detennined

what that particular Zlob Trojan was set up to do, but since child pornography began
downloading soon afterwards, it is extremely likely this Trojan was involved.
Contrary to what the government contends, the facts clearly show my anti-virus program
wasn't working properly at that time. The fact I quit playing poker five minutes before the child
pornography activity began, is n.owhere near what could be called "strong" evidence that it was
me who searched this out and actively downloaded it.
When Ms. Loehrs was a:;ked by defense counsel if it was her "opinion that a Trojan virus
allowing someone else access to Mr. Solon's computer could be responsible for the child
pornography on Mr. Solon's computer," Ms. Loehrs responded, "It is absolutely possible, yes.,,18
None of the testimony of Ms. Loehrs was ever disputed by a government forensic
computer expert. What the

fact~;

show are that my computer was vulnerable and I downloaded a

Zlob Trojan. Shortly thereafter, child pornography began downloading onto my computer. It is
extremely likely the Trojan was activated and began doing its thing. The activity that occurred
on my computer that evening is consistent with the computer being infected. The evidence the
government calls "strong evidence" of my guilt is actually "strong evidence" that my computer
was being attacked.

17

ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume V. Page 105. November 7,2008.

18

ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume V. Page 110. November 7, 2008.
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In addition to arguing that a sufficiency of the evidence argument cannot be raised in the
first instance in a § 2255 proceeding, the government puts forth additional arguments as to why
these particular challenges in my Motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 should be denied.

A. Ground One, Challenge I: Prosecutor Acted in Bad Faith by Ignoring the
Defendant's Right ito the Presumption of Innocence
The government argues that this challenge "borders on the ridiculous."

19

It is further

argued that this challenge is "simply nonsensical, wholly lacking in merit, and must be denied.,,2o
I disagree that it is ridiculous and nonsensical to bring forth a challenge that there wasn't
sufficient evidence to charge me, let alone convict me.
The government contends '"the Defendant fails to offer any cogent argument or authority
in support of this contention other than regurgitating arguments made by his trial attorney during
closing argument concerning the state of the evidence in his case." 21
I disagree. In this challenge I did present an extremely convincing and compelling
argument, or in other words, a c:ogent argument in support of this contention. The cogent
authority I cited is the U.S. Constitution. I did not, as the prosecutor contends, regurgitate
arguments made by my trial attorney during closing argument. Instead I laid out the

19 SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 14. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
20 ibid. United States' Response to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.s.c. § 2255. Page 15.
Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
21 ibid. United States' Response to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.s.c. § 2255. Page 14.

Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
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government's evidence, which was presented by their expert, Special Agent Huff, during trial
testimony.
The government further states, "He has failed to allege any facts that would constitute a
deficiency on the part of his attorney. Additionally, the Defendant has failed to allege or
demonstrate prejudice as required by Strickland. This claim must be dismissed."

22

Once again, I disagree. The fact there was insufficient evidence to convict me, and the
fact that issue wasn't raised repeatedly throughout this process, constitutes a deficiency on the
part of my attorneys. This is not a frivolous issue. The prejudice demonstrated is that I have
been convicted of a crime without sufficient evidence.
The government further declares, in a conclusory fashion:
"Further, as the Defendant acknowledges in his own memorandum, the government
investigators literally spent ''weeks'' examining the Defendant's hard drive and preparing
for trial in this case (11/6/08, Tr. Trans., Vol. IV at 5; Defendant's Memorandum, at 116).
That effort - involving literally hundreds of hours in preparation - revealed that the
Defendant knowingly received and possessed child pornography." 23
How does the government come up with the conclusory statement that their effort
revealed that the Defendant knowingly received and possessed child pornography? I request an
evidentiary hearing on this matter. The government uncovered no evidence that I knowingly
received and possessed child pornography. The only evidence provided was the opinion of
Special Agent Huff.

22
23

ibid.
ibid. Page 15.
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It was revealed in trial testimony that Agent Huff is not qualified to form that opinion in
the first place. Agent Huff admitted under oath that he has no clue how to determine if the child
pornography residing on my computer was the result of a Zlob Trojan.
I do not know what government investigators spent weeks examining, but they weren't
examining whether the Zlob Trojan attached to the Madden game was responsible for placing
child pornography on my computer. In fact, they weren't examining anything that had to do with
whether or not I knowingly possessed and received child pornography because the govenunent's
top computer expert on this case admitted under oath he doesn't know how to do that.
The government contends that since I admitted to being home alone that night, and
admitted to using Limewire, and admitted to playing online poker, and the fact child
pornography began to download five minutes after I quit playing online poker, is the evidence
that reveals I knowingly received and possessed child pornography. That is absurd. In no way,
shape, or form does that prove I was the one who did this.
The government was well aware of my contention that I did not know this was on my
computer. They were well aware that my computer anti-virus program was at times not working
properly. In addition, they were: well aware that a Zlob Trojan was attached to a Madden game
that I downloaded right before the child pornography activity began. Yet they failed to
investigate that issue, instead proclaiming the Defendant's guilt, without any evidence
whatsoever that it was me and not the Trojan that caused this.

14
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The government's forensic computer expert in this case, Special Agent Huff, admitted
under oath he isn't qualified to investigate what damage this particular Trojan may have caused.
He also admitted under oath that he didn't know how to investigate whether or not a Trojan was
responsible for the searching and downloading of child pornography onto my computer.
Because of that, Agent Huff is not qualified to determine that it was me who knowingly received
and possessed child pornography.
This issue leads us into the next challenge in my sufficiency of the evidence argument,
but as far as this particular challenge, my statements about this issue are not conclusory. Rather
the evidence and facts supporting this challenge were revealed in testimony and court documents
and they were presented in my Motion under 28 U.S.c. § 2255.
In regards to the government's response, what evidence did the government uncover
during their weeks of investigation that points exclusively to me being the one who knowingly
possessed and received child pornography? Whatever evidence they uncovered that points
exclusively to me has never been revealed. I hereby request an evidentiary hearing on this
matter.

B. Ground One, Chall:enge II: Misleading the Jury into Believing the
Government's Computer Forensic Expert Was Highly Qualified
The government, in its response, claims that this challenge "is nothing more than a
sufficiency of the evidence claim which cannot be raised or considered in the first instance in a §

15
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2255 motion proceeding." 24 I agree that this challenge fits into a sufficiency of the evidence
argument since the governmenfs forensic computer expert wasn't qualified to be an expert in
regards to my guilt or irmocence. However, I do not agree that this argument cannot be raised in
the first instance in a § 2255 motion proceeding.
The government contends "the Defendant fails to show any deficiency on the part of his
attorney or the requisite showing of prejudice." 25 This issue was addressed previously in this
reply. There was absolutely no evidence in this case except for the opinion of an agent who
wasn't qualified to give that opinion. Therefore, it was a complete deficiency on the part of my
attorney for not previously raising this issue. The requisite showing of prejudice has also been
addressed. I was convicted of a crime without sufficient evidence--or in this particular casewithout any evidence. That is not just possible prejudice. That is actual prejudice.
In its response, the government states that "in support of this claim the Defendant offers
nothing more than a rehash of the testimony of Huff juxtaposed against the testimony of his own
forensic expert - Tarnmi Loehrs."

26

This is simply not true. And when you read that challenge

in my § 2255 motion, this statement becomes so obviously not true, that one has to wonder why
the government would present ill in the fust place. Mr. Anderson is mischaracterizing the
argument that was set forth in my § 2255 motion. I did not juxtapose Agent Huff's testimony
against Ms. Loehrs' testimony, as the prosecutor claims.

24
25
26

ibid. Page 16.
ibid.
ibid.

16

Case 2:11-cv-00303-CAB Document 18 Filed 08/03/12 Page 17 of 55
Page 17 of 55

Case 2:11-cv-00303-CAB

The government then continues this nonsense by stating, "In the end, the essence of this
claim is that the jury should have believed the defense expert, not the government's."

27

Again,

this is not true. The prosecutor is once again purposely misleading the court. The essence of this
claim is that Agent Huff lacked the skills necessary to be considered a qualified forensic
computer expert. Agent Huff's lack of skills has nothing to do with the skills of the defense
expert.
It is interesting that Mr. Anderson would put forth such an obviously fictitious argument

for this challenge, rather than using this opportunity to counteract my claims that their expert
wasn't qualified. That fact that he did this, speaks volumes. I hereby request an evidentiary
hearing on this matter.
C. Ground Five, Challenges I-IV: Indictments (Insufficient Evidence)

The government claims 1hat the four challenges raised in Ground Five in my § 2255
motion "are a variation on the theme that the government's evidence was insufficient to convict
him of the crimes charged or the evidence he introduced established a reasonable doubt as to his
guilt."

28

Mr. Anderson is corre,ct in that these challenges constitute that the government's

evidence was insufficient to convict me, however, I did not "introduce" evidence to establish
reasonable doubt as to my guilt. I merely pointed out the evidence that exists.
The government further contends:

27
28

ibid.
ibid. Page 76.
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"It has long been the rule in this circuit that 28 U.S.C. § 2255 is not a substitute for a
direct appeal, and a prisoner cannot use it as a vehicle to challenge the sufficiency of the
evidence used to convict him. Payton v. United States, 436 F.2d 575, 576-77 (lOth Cir.
1970); Williams v. United States, 371 F.2d 536 (lOth Cir. 1967); Carrillo v. United
States, 332 F.2d 202 (lOth Cir. 1964); Curry v. United States, 292 F.2d 576 (lOth Cir.
1961). These four "challenges" simply cannot be considered on their merits. ,,29

However, the government also states: "Of course, a § 2255 claimant may raise a claim
that his trial or appellate counsel was ineffective for not challenging the sufficiency of evidence.

Boyle v. McKune, 544 F.3d 1132, 1140 (10th Cir. 2008)." 30
I have met the standards set forth in Boyle v. McKune. A sufficiency of the evidence
argument in this case is neither a frivolous nor meritless argument. Contrary to what the
government claims in citing United States v. Dobbs, 629 F.3d 1199, 1207 (lOth Cir. 2011),31 had
this argument been raised, the outcome of this case would have been different, as is evidenced by
the Tenth Circuit Court's ruling in United States v. Dobbs. My case is very similar to the Dobbs'
case in that there is no evidence that I knowingly received or possessed child pornography.
Ground Five, Challenge I, of my § 2255 motion argues there was insufficient evidence to
convict me. Ground Five, Challenge II (no evidence files had ever been viewed), Challenge III
(no evidence I used search terms to find child pornography), and Challenge IV (evidence of
malware), all support the fact that there was insufficient evidence in this case. I disagree with
the government. These challenges can "be considered on their merits."

29
30

31

ibid.
ibid. Page 77.
ibid. Page 68.
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In their response, the government does not address Challenges II through IV of Ground
Five of my § 2255 motion, except to say they constitute sufficiency of the evidence arguments,
and that because these particular challenges were not specifically addressed under Ground Two,
Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, the government contends that, "To the extent that the
Defendant raises additional or different arguments in this section from those raised in his
ineffective assistance of appellate counsel argument found at pages 122-127 of his
memorandum, those new arguments simply cannot be considered. Payton v. United States, 436
F.2d at 576-77.

,,32

I disagree. Sufficiency of the evidence was raised in this § 2255 motion, it is allowed to
be raised in the first instance in a § 2255 motion under certain circumstances, and in Ground
Two of my § 2255 motion I put forth the argument that my attorney was ineffective for not
raising this issue on appeal. Because Challenges II through IV of Ground Five of my § 2255
motion are sufficiency of the evidence arguments, they can be considered.
In the government's response, in reference to Ground Five, Challenge I of my § 2255
motion, it is argued:
"He fails to develop any additional argument or offer any analysis as to why his attorney
should have included this argument within the direct appeal. Given the existing precedent
in this circuit - that "appellate counsel who files a merits brief need not (and should not)
raise every nonfrivolous claim, but rather may select from among them in order to
maximize the likelihood of success on appeal" Smith v. Robbins, 528 U.S. 259, 288
(2000) - the Defendant's lack of analysis on this issue requires the court to dismiss this
claim. United States v. Fisher, 38 F.3d at 1147." 33
32

33

ibid. Page 77.
ibid. Page 66.
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I remind the court, I am not an attorney, and because I am acting without an attorney, or

pro se, the Court has a higher standard when faced with a motion to dismiss. Moreover, "the
court is under a duty to examine: the complaint to determine if the allegations provide for relief
on any possible theory." Bonner v. Circuit Court olSt. Louis, 526 F.2d 1331, 1334 (8th Cir.
1975) (quoting Bramlet v. Wilson, 495 F.2d 714, 716 (8th Cir. 1974».
Because I am not an attorney, I do not understand what additional argument or analysis
needed to be offered. The facts are presented in my § 2255 motion, and my analysis of those
facts is not only presented, but made quite obvious. I don't know what additional argument or
analysis could have been made. It makes me wonder if Mr. Anderson is once again using
"smoke and mirrors." Because I am not an attorney, it is my hope that the court will "examine
the complaint to determine if the allegations provide for relief on any possible theory."

34

The government argues that a sufficiency of the evidence argument has no merit because
"the evidence, viewed in a light most favorable to the government, established that the Defendant
used his computer to view files with names consistent with child pornography in June, July,
August, and September of2006 (see Government Exhibit 32, copy attached, marked Attachment
B; also see testimony of Agent Huff, 11/5/08, Tr.Trans., Vol. III, at 153-155)." 35
Once again, I disagree. That is not evidence "viewed in a light most favorable to the
government." That is evidence seriously twisted in order to fit the government's contentions,
34 Bonner v. Circuit Court of St. Louis, 526 F.2d 1331, 1334 (8th Cir. 1975) (quoting Bramlet v. Wilson, 495 F.2d 714,
716 (8th Cir. 1974)}.
3S SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 69. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
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and it should not be allowed. The truth is that what that evidence establishes is that my computer
was offering to share files that had names consistent with child pornography in June, July and
August of2006. That's it.
This evidence does not establish that it was me who "used my computer to view files
with names consistent with child pornography" on those dates. In fact, that evidence doesn't
establish that anyone used my computer to view files, or that those files were ever viewed. The
evidence also does not establish that I knew those files were on my computer and available for
sharing. These are facts that cannot be disputed. The government's statement that this evidence
establishes I used my computer "to view files with names consistent with child pornography" is a
total fabrication meant to mislead the court.
In their response the government continues this deception by stating: "The government
also introduced a time line of the downloads that occurred on September 20,2006 (see
Government Exhibit 31A, attached hereto and marked Attachment C). This exhibit clearly
established that the Defendant cownloaded and previewed child pornography files on September
20, 2006." 36
Once again, the government is attempting to mislead the court. This Exhibit does not
establish that it was me who "downloaded and previewed child pornography files on September
20,2006."

36

ibid.
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In regards to the possibi:lity of a Trojan being responsible, the government states, "the
government's expert, Agent Huff, testified that the Defendant's computer was equipped with
anti-virus software that was working properly. According to Huff, there were no active viruses
on the computer and the malWa!ie identified by Ms. Loehrs had been identified and deleted by the
anti-virus software (11/5/08, Tr. Trans., Vol. III at 93, 121, 162, 169-72)." 37
Apparently Agent Huff was mistaken. What the government fails to mention is that after
Agent Huff's testimony, the government inadvertently rebutted this testimony by introducing
Government Exhibit 39, which refuted Agent Huff's testimony that the anti-virus software was
working properly. It was the ddense expert, Ms. Loehrs, who pointed this out.
By that time Agent Huff had disappeared from the trial and Todd Coleman arrived to take
his place. Mr. Anderson repeatedly told the court that Mr. Coleman would be rebutting Ms.
Loehrs' testimony, including her testimony regarding Government Exhibit 39, yet no rebuttal
materialized. The government ,~ould not rebut its own testimony, which had inadvertently
refuted Agent Huff's testimony.

It was at that point that. rosecutor Anderson took it upon himself to disprove it in his
closing, pointing out to the jury that the anti-virus software was working because it received an
update the morning of September 20th. The fact the anti-virus software was working
sporadically is not evidence that it was working the evening of September 20 th . Government
Exhibit 39 clearly shows the anti-virus program was starting and stopping during that time,

37

ibid.
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rather than numing continuously, as it is designed to do. Therefore, the anti-virus program on
my computer was not working properly according to the government's own evidence. This
argument and the evidence supporting this argument is included in my motion under 28 U.S.C. §
2255.
In its response, the government summarizes their argument by declaring: "Given the
strength of the evidence the government produced at trial, there was more than sufficient
evidence for a rational jury to find the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no
merit to the claim that the Defendant's appellate attorney was ineffective for not including a
sufficiency of the evidence claim in his direct appeal."

38

I disagree. It is clear from looking at the government's evidence, that it is not strong. In
fact, contrary to what the government wishes the court to believe (and what they got the jury to
believe), the evidence, as they portray it, doesn't exist. Interestingly enough, the government
inadvertently admits this in theit response. This admission comes in the form of footnote 16,
which states: "The Defendant ignores the obvious - give Ms. Loehrs enough time and she may
very well disprove his claims that a third party hacker placed the child pornography on his
computer." 39
"May very well" means it is possible she could disprove the possibility of a Trojan being
responsible. It also means it is possible she could prove that the Zlob Trojan was responsible.
How is that possible ifthe govemment has evidence that it was me who did this and not a Zlob

38
39

ibid. Pages 69-70.
ibid. Page 53.
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Trojan? If what the government argues is true, that they have the evidence they claim to have,
then this comment would not have been made. It would have stated that if Ms. Loehrs had
enough time she would have found the same evidence the government had already found that
pointed directly to me.
The problem is the government doesn't have the evidence, and they know it, as is
evidenced by this footnote. As far as me ignoring the obvious, the obvious doesn't exist. I did
not know there was child pornography on my computer; therefore, it is impossible for anyone to
find any evidence whatsoever to the contrary. If given more time, Ms. Loehrs may well have
uncovered it wasn't the result of a Zlob Trojan, but she wasn't going to uncover it was me who
did this. I don't know how it got there. All I want is the truth, whatever it is. I know for a fact
that the truth of how those files got on my computer will not be pointing at me. I did not ignore
the obvious, as the government contends. The obvious does not exist.
The government is, at the very least, mischaracterizing their evidence. The evidence
cited in their response does not point to me doing this, as they claim. They did not have a strong
case. They've been using "smoke and mirrors" throughout this entire case and they continue to
do so in their response. Any qualified independent forensic computer expert would be able to
verify that the government has no evidence. I hereby request an evidentiary hearing on this
Issue.
Because the governmen1' s evidence is not what they state it is, their Haymond argument
falls apart. Contrary to what th<:y claim, the government did not prove I knew of and also
24
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controlled the particular images that formed the basis of the conviction; therefore, there is merit
to this issue of insufficient evidence. Due to the fact that a sufficiency of the evidence argument
is not a frivolous or melitless argument in this case, my attorney was deficient for not raising it
on appeal. This is especially true in light of the Tenth Circuit Court's ruling in United Slales v.

Dobbs, 629 F.3d 1199, 1207 (10th Cir. 2011).
In this ruling, the court states:
"In this criminaJ appeal, Terry Brian Dobbs brings a sufficiency-of-the-evidence
challenge to his conviction for knowingly receiving and attempting to receive child pornography
in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2252(a)(2). Mr. Dobbs contends that there was insufficient evidence
to prove: (1) that he knowingly teceived or attempted to receive either of the two pornographic
images submitted to the jury."
The court concludes:
"Exercising jurisdiction under 28 U.S.c. § 1291, we agree that the government did not
offer sufficient evidence to prove that Mr. Dobbs knowingly received the images found on his
hard drive ... We REVERSE and remand to the district court to VACATE Mr. Dobbs's
conviction and sentence."
In addition, the Tenth Circuit states:
"There is little doubt that Mr. Dobbs-or at least his computer-"received" child
pornography. Indeed, Mr. Dobb'5 does not contest that the government found images of child
pornography on his computer. However, mere receipt of child pornography is not what is
25
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proscribed by § 2252(a)(2); rather, it is the knowing receipt of this illegal content that is
punishable under the statute. See 18 U .S.C. § 2252(a)(2).
"Mr. Dobbs challenges the sufficiency of the goverrunent's evidence establishing that he
knowingly received the two images that were sent to the jury. A careful review of the record
reveals that the government presented no evidence that Mr. Dobbs had accessed the files stored
in his computer's cache, including the two images at issue. And, more tellingly, there was no
evidence that he even knew about his computer's automatic-caching function. Moreover, as to
the two images at issue, there was no evidence presented to the jury that Mr. Dobbs even saw
them, much less had the ability to exercise control over them by, for example, clicking on them
or enlarging them. As such, although there is no question that a rational jury could have found
that Mr. Dobbs "received" the two images, we conclude that it could not have found that Mr.
Dobbs did so knowingly.
"In contrast to Bass, the government presented absolutely no evidence here from which a
reasonable jury could infer that Mr. Dobbs knew of his computer's automatic-caching function,
much less that he had accessed his cache. Consequently, we conclude that the presence of the
child pornography files in the cache of Mr. Dobbs's computer does not alone demonstrate
circwnstantiaUy or otherwise-his knowing receipt of those files. For us to conclude otherwise
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would "turn abysmal ignorance into knowledge and a less than valetudinarian grasp into
dominion and control." United States v. Kuchinski, 469 F.3d 853, 863 (9th Cir.2006)." 40
This case is extremely similar to my case, and this ruling by the Tenth Circuit
demonstrates the deficiency on the part of my attorney for not raising this issue on appeal. If it
had been raised, I wouldn't be sitting in prison right now. I disagree with the government's
assertions that a sufficiency of the evidence argument must be denied and I hereby request an
evidentiary hearing.
II.

FAILURE TO SEIZE THE ENTIRE COMPUTER SYSTEM

Grounds Three and Fom of my motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 argue a number of
constitutional violations because the government failed to seize my entire computer system.
Ground Two argues that my attorney was ineffective for failing to raise this issue on appeal.
In regards to this issue, the government declares in their response that, "There is nothing
by way of analysis or an attempt to reconcile this claim with the existing case law within the
circuit. It is an understatement 1.0 describe his assertions as conclusory. Thus, this claim may be
denied on that ground alone. Uf'lited States v. Fisher, 38 F.3d at 1147." 4\
Again, I am not an attorney, and "the court is under a duty to examine the complaint to
determine if the allegations provide for relief on any possible theory." Bonner v. Circuit Court of

40

United States v. Dobbs, 629 F.3d 1199, 1207 (10th Cir. 2011). http://caselaw.findlaw.com/us-l0th

circuit/1551402.html.
41 SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. 11-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate ~;entence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 60. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
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St. Louis, 526 F.2d 1331, 1334 (8th Cir. 1975) (quoting Bramlet v. Wilson, 495 F.2d 714, 716
(8th Cir. 1974)).
In my § 2255 motion I argued constitutional violations, which are backed up by case law
whether I state it or not. My assertions were not conclusory. As far as United States v. Fisher,
38 F.3d at 1147, I'm not sure w1at that case has to do with this case. I disagree that "this claim
may be denied on that ground aione."
On June 11,2007, the court denied my motion to dismiss based upon the failure of the
agents to seize the entire computer system. 42 43 In their response to my § 2255 motion, the

government states that, "If appellate counsel had attempted to challenge this ruling on appeal,
she would have had to establish that this court committed clear error in holding the government
did not destroy potentially exculpatory evidence. See United States v. Bohl, 25 F.3d 904, 909
(10th Cir. 1994)." 44
In United States v. Bohl, 25 F.3d 904, 909 (lOth Cir. 1994), the court uses "the principles
articulated in California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984), and Arizona v. Youngblood,
488 U.S. 51, 56 (1988), regarding the Due Process Clause and the government's destruction or
loss of evidence prior to a criminal trial" to guide their analysis.

USA v SOLON. District of Wyoming. Case No. 07-CR-32-B. Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss.
Document 16-1. Filed 4/13/2007.
43 ibid. Order Denying Defendant's M.:>tion to Dismiss and Denying Defendant's "Motion for Release of Mirror
Image of Hard Drive or in the Alternative Motion to Dismiss." Document 23. Filed 6/11/2007.
44 SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
42

to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 62. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
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"To invoke Trombetta, a defendant must demonstrate that the government destroyed
evidence possessing an "apparent" exculpatory value. Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 489, 104
S.Ct. at 2534. However, to trigger the Youngblood test, all that need be shown is that the
government destroyed "potentially useful evidence." Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 58, 109
S.Ct. at 337. The Court in Youngblood defined "potentially useful evidence" as evidence
of which "no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results
of which might have exonerated the defendant." Id. at 57, 109 S.Ct. at 337 (emphasis
added)."
The first prong of the Youngblood test would be to determine if the entire computer
system constitutes potentially exculpatory evidence. The government freely, repeatedly, admits
that the entire computer system is important in evaluating the evidence. That information is put
forth in a number of ways:
1. In the Department of Justice guidelines for handling cases such as this.
2. In the search warrant used to seize my computer.
3. In testimony by agents assigned to this case regarding the importance of gathering
and analyzing the evidence from the entire system.
4. In hearings and court documents where the prosecutor explains to the court why it is
important to have the entire computer system.
In a hearing held May 30, 2007, Mr. Anderson claims:
"Now, the search warrant does say a system is important. It's important because an
analyst needs to know if the computer system was working or not. When the agents
arrived, the computer was on and operating. The officers were able to check the basic
input/output device of the computer to determine that it was set to the correct day and to
the correct time and to fle correct year. That's important. And that's one of the reasons
why you need the entire system (emphasis added)." 45
USA v SOLON. District of Wyoming. Case No. 07-CR-032B. Transcript of Motion to Dismiss Proceedings. Page
16. May 30,2007.

45
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To repeat: The system is important "because an analyst needs to know if the computer system
was working or not." Whose analyst does this statement refer to? Is the government
differentiating between the government's analyst and a defendant's analyst? If the system is
important to the government's analyst, then it certainly is important to the defendant's analyst. It
is inconceivable that this evidence was allowed to be examined and analyzed by the government,
but not by the defense---especiaUy in light of the fact that dates and times were not only
important factors, but a central :issue in this case.
In a footnote in the Government's Response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss filed
April 27, 2007, the government states:
"If a computer is on at the time of the search the BIOS system can be queried by the
seizing agent to determine the accuracy of the system clock. If the computer is off then it
may be necessary to seize the entire system to accurately verify the workings of the
computer." 46
The government states, " ... it may be necessary." Actually, it is "necessary to seize the entire
system to accurately verify the workings of the computer."
Agent Balliett confirmed this when she testified that if the computer system is off, the
protocol is to take the whole computer. When asked why that is, she responded:
"Because, again, being able to know date and time and other information on the
computer, you - if the computer is turned off, you may not be able to get that without the
whole system."

46

ibid. Government's Response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. Page 4. Document 17. Filed 4/27/2007.
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She further testified that when she executes a search warrant at a scene where the computer is
off, that she can't ever recall jm;t taking the hard drive.

47

The government knows the entire computer system is important. They know the date and
time are important. If the date and time are not accurate, then all the dates and times presented in
this case are not accurate. The government has absolutely no evidence the date and time were
accurate on that system, except for what they report.
The second prong of the Youngblood test would be to determine if the government acted
in bad faith when they didn't setze the entire computer system. The record shows the
government had knowledge that the date and time are important, yet they failed to document
their claims that the date and time were accurate. The government could have easily taken the
entire computer system, as they would have normally done if the system had been off. At the
very least, in lieu of taking the entire system, they could have taken photographs or video of the
evidence as they did their examination and analysis.
The government admits that ifthey can't get what they want from the system at the time
of the search, then they will seize the entire system. However, the government has knowledge
that by getting the evidence they need without having to seize the entire computer system will
prevent the defense from having the same opportunity to examine the evidence.
The record shows the government has knowledge there are other analyses that can be
done on the system that can uncover potentially useful evidence. The government didn't bother

47

ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings.. Volume II. Page 94. November 4, 2008.
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to examine or preserve that evidence, such as the contents of the Random Access Memory
(RAM), or the memory contained in the router, and they knew that by leaving the system behind,
the defense would be unable to conduct additional examinations and analyses that could
potentially thwart the government's case.
In United States v. Bohl, 25 F.3d 904, 909 (10th Cir. 1994), the court states:
"Our inquiry into bad faith "must necessarily turn on the [government's] knowledge of
the exculpatory value of the evidence at the time it was lost or destroyed. " Youngblood,
488 U.S. at 57 n. *,109 S.Ct. at 336 n. *."
The second prong of the Youngblood test has been met-the record clearly shows that in
this case the government knew the exculpatory value of the entire system when they failed to
seize it, therefore, the government acted in bad faith.
This issue of the government failing to seize the entire computer system can also be
argued under Trombetta. In United States v. Bohl, 25 F.3d 904, 909 (10th Cir. 1994), the court
states, "To invoke Trombetta, a defendant must demonstrate that the government destroyed
evidence possessing an "apparent" exculpatory value. Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 489, 104 S.Ct. at
2534."
The same argument used under the Youngblood test, can be used here. The date and time
on the system are absolutely critical, especially in this particular case. The record shows that the
government knew of the system's "apparent" exculpatory value, so much so, that if they couldn't
get the information they wanted at the time of the search, they would take the entire system with
them to examine later.
32
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The government states in its response to my § 2255 motion:
"In California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984), the Supreme Court held that to
the extent the Constitution imposes a duty on the government to preserve evidence, "that
duty must be limited to evidence that might be expected to playa significant role in the
suspect's defense"-i.e., evidence that is constitutionally material. To be constitutionally
material under Trombetta, the evidence must (1) "possess an exculpatory value that was
apparent [to the police] before the evidence was destroyed," and (2) "be of such a nature
that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably
available means." Id. at 489. See also United States v. Hood, 615 F.3d 1293, 1299 (lOth
Cir. 2010); UnitedStatesv. Parker, 72 F.3d 1444, 1451 (lOthCir. 1995).,,48
The entire computer sy5,tem is evidence that is constitutionally material. It satisfies the
requirements put forth in Trombetta. The exculpatory value of "the workings of the computer" 49
and the examination of the date and time contained within the system, possessed an exculpatory
value that was apparent at the time of the seizure.
The second prong of Trombetta has been met as well. By not seizing the entire computer
system or documenting the evidence through photographs, videos, or any other means, made it
impossible for the defense to "obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means."
It was ineffective for appellate counsel to not challenge the ruling issued on June 11,

2007.

50

The government asserts that, "If appellate counsel had attempted to challenge this

ruling on appeal, she would have had to establish that this court committed clear error in holding
the government did not destroy potentially exculpatory evidence."

48 SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate ~;entence under 28 U.s.c. § 2255. Page 62. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
49 USA v SOLON. District of Wyoming. Case No. 07-CR-032B. Government's Response to Defendant's Motion to
Dismiss. Page 4. Document 17. Filed 4/27/2007.
50 ibid. Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss and Denying Defendant's "Motion for Release of Mirror
Image of Hard Drive or in the Alternat:ve Motion to Dismiss." Document 23. Filed 6/11/2007.
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The government further states that, "Clear error exists only if a finding is "without factual
support in the record" or the court is "left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has
been made." United States v. Maestas, 642 F.3d 1315, 1319 (lOth Cir. 2011)." 51 In this case
there was no factual support in the record as to why the government failed to seize the entire
system when they knew the exculpatory value of the evidence contained within, namely the
accuracy of the date and time. Upon a careful review of the facts of this case, a court could be
"left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made."
The government argues '''an appeal of this court's order denying the motion to dismiss
could not have satisfied this demanding standard"52 of establishing clear error. I disagree. Clear
error can be established from

th~

record; therefore, it was ineffective of appellate counsel to not

raise this issue on appeal. I hewby request an evidentiary hearing on this matter.

III.

GROUND ONE, CHAlL.LENGE IX: IMPROPER CLOSING ARGUMENT
In the government's response to this challenge, Mr. Anderson admits, "The Defendant is

correct. The undersigned did misstate evidence during his closing argument." 53 Yet the
government claims that this is okay, because:
"The Ninth Circuit has held that, "since many lawyers refrain from objecting during
opening statement and c~osing argument, absent egregious misstatements, the failure to
object during closing argument and opening statement is within the 'wide range' of

SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 USc. § 2255. Page 62. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
S2 Ibid.
S1

S3

Ibid. Page 36.
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pennissible professional legal conduct." United States v. Necoechea, 986 F.2d 1273,
1281 (9th Cir. 1993), citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689." 54
The government further backs up this argument by stating:
"Mr. Smith's decision not to object to the statement does not rise to a constitutionally
deficient assistance of counsel. United States v. Lively, 817 F.Supp. 453, 466 (D.Del.
1993), affd, 14 F.3d 50 (3d Cir. 1993) ("Absent egregious misstatements by the
prosecutor, the failure to object during closing argument and opening statement is within
the wide range of penni~:sible professional legal conduct, and thus does not constitute
ineffective assistance of counsel.")." 55
The problem with the government's argument is that the "misstatements" by the
prosecutor were unequivocally "egregious." The misrepresentations Mr. Anderson presented to
the jury were blatant, conspicuous, flagrant, obvious, and offensive. Because these
misstatements of evidence were so egregious, "the failure to object during closing argument and
opening statement is" nQ! "witilln the 'wide range' of pennissible professional legal conduct."

56

Nevertheless, the government contends:
"But even assuming, arguendo, trial counsel's failure to object to the misstatements of
the prosecutor constituted deficient perfonnance, the Defendant simply has not, and
cannot, establish "prejudice" under Strickland, i.e. but for trial counsel's failure to object
to the improper statements of the prosecutor, there is a reasonable likelihood the outcome
of the trial would be diffi~rent. Given the facts of tills case, such a showing simply cannot
be made." 57
Given the facts of this case, such a showing can be, and has been, made. Concerning Strickland,
the U.S. Supreme Court stated:

54
55

Ibid. Page 37.
Ibid.

United States v. Necoechea, 986 F.2d 1273, 1281 (9th Cir. 1993), citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689.
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"With regard to the required showing of prejudice, the proper standard requires the
defendant to show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's
unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A
reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.
A court hearing an ineUectiveness claim must consider the totality of the evidence before
the judge or jury." 58
The government argues that the "misstatements" by the prosecutor during closing
argument were not "sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome" because "the trial
court's jury instructions minimized the impact of the prosecutor's misstatements," 59 and trial
counsel "pointed out for the jury in his closing argument the mistakes contained in the
prosecutor's argument."

60

The prosecutor further argues:
"Finally, the government's evidence in this case was properly characterized as "strong"
by the court of appeals. United States v. Solon, 596 F.3d at 1213. This simply was not a
case where the Defendant's guilt was a close call. It certainly was not the type of case
where the statements of an attorney in closing could be considered as influencing the
outcome. (See argument below regarding sufficiency of evidence at II.C.2.d. at page 65)."
61

As the Supreme Court stated in Strickland, "A court hearing an ineffectiveness claim
must consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury." 62 Contrary to what the
government claims, the government's evidence was improperly characterized as "strong" by the
court of appeals. (See argument regarding sufficiency of evidence beginning on page 3.) The

Strickland v. Washington, Pp. 466 U. S. 691-696. (1984)
SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 38. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
60 Ibid. Page 39.
61 Ibid.
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fact the jury felt the evidence was "strong" was directly due to the "misstatements" of the
prosecutor, which he not only made in court, but astonishingly, continues to make in his response
to my § 2255 motion.
Not only does the prosecutor seriously mischaracterize the evidence (see argument
regarding sufficiency of eviden(:e beginning on page 3), but throughout the trial he impugned the
reputation and character of the defense expert, Ms. Loehrs. Ms. Loehrs is a well-respected,
nationally renowned, forensic computer expert, yet Mr. Anderson's mission was to make the jury
believe that she is a slick, sneaky, lying advocate who would say and do anything if she is paid
enough.
The facts of all of this have been presented in my § 2255 motion and are clarified here in
h

this reply. In United States v. Farinella, Nos. 08-1839,08-1860. (i Cir. 2009) the court puts
forth the following ruling, which fits the circumstances of this case at bar:
"Because the government presented insufficient evidence that the defendant engaged in
misbranding, he is entitled to be acquitted. But since there was insufficient evidence,
why did the jury convict? Perhaps because of a series of improper statements by
prosecutor Juliet Sorensen in her rebuttal closing argument, for which the government in
its brief (which she signed) belatedly apologizes (belatedly because the government
defended the remarks emphatically in the district court). The brief says that "the remarks
which drew sustained ob~ections were improper, because they cast the defendant's
exercise of his constitutional right to counsel in a negative light."
"Indeed they were and they did. The reference to these "sustained objections" by the
defendant's lawyer is to objections to two statements made by the prosecutor to the jury.
After the court sustained the defendant's objection to the first statement-"Ladies and
gentlemen, don't let the defendant and his high-paid lawyer buy his way out ofthis"-she
said to the jury: "Black and white in our system ofjustice, ladies and gentlemen. You
have to earn justice. YOIl can't buy it." The judge sustained an objection to this
statement too. That was too weak a response. He should have made clear to the
37
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prosecutor after sustaining the first objection that one more false step and he would
declare a mistrial. The prosecutor's second statement was worse than the first, because it
could be understood as a warning that the defendant might try to obtain an acquittal by
bribery.
"There were additional improprieties, not acknowledged and for the most part not even
discussed by the government in its brief.
"We asked the governffil~nt's lawyer at argument what an appropriate sanction for the
prosecutor's misconduct might be. We are not permitted to reverse a judgment on the
basis of a lawyer's misconduct that would not have caused a reasonable jury to acquit,
United States v. Hasting, 461 U.S. 499,505-06,103 S.Ct. 1974,76 L.Ed.2d 96 (1983);
United States. v. Boyd, 55 F.3d 239, 241-42 (7th Cir.1995), but in this case, had the
government presented enough evidence to sustain a conviction, we would have reversed
the judgment and ordered a new trial on the basis of the prosecutor's misconduct. That
sanction is not available only because the government presented so little evidence that the
defendant is entitled to an acquittal. That does not detract from the gravity of the
prosecutor's misconduct and the need for an appropriate sanction. The government's
appellate lawyer told us that the prosecutor's superior would give her a talking-to. We
are not impressed by the suggestion." 63

Mr. Anderson admits that on at least three occasions during his closing he incorrectly
stated that Ms. Loehrs did not find any child pornography. At least three times he made
inferences to the jury that insinuated that Ms. Loehrs is an incompetent, stupid, liar who claims
there are no images of child pomography on that computer, when obviously there were, because
the jury saw it with their own eyes.
Mr. Anderson further admits he incorrectly told the jury that Ms. Loehrs claimed that any
child pornography on that compJter wasn't viewable. Again, he wanted to show Ms. Loehrs as a
person who would say whatever she is paid to say, because obviously, it was viewable-the jury

63

United States v. Farinella, Nos. 08-1839, 08-1860. (7'h Cir. 2009).
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saw it. Mr. Anderson's goal was to get the jury to totally discount Mr. Loehrs' testimony,
especially in light of the fact that testimony had revealed that the government's forensic
computer expert was utterly unqualified, and that there was insufficient evidence to convict me.
Unfortunately, Mr. Anderson aGhieved his goal.
The ruling in Strickland states that "the proper standard requires the defendant to show
that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the
proceeding would have been different." 64 In this case at bar, that standard has been met.
The government in their argument as to why this particular challenge should be denied,
states:
"The Defendant also complains that the prosecutor "testified" about certain matters
during his closing. See Defendant's Memorandum, at 86,87, and 89. However, in each
instance cited by the Defendant, the remarks were fully supported by material within the
record. During closing argument, a prosecutor may comment on facts in evidence and
make reasonable inferences from such evidence. United States v. Dazey, 403 F.3d 1147,
1170 (1Oth Cir. 2005); United States v. Ortega, 69 F.3d 545 (9th Cir. 1995). In those
instances where the Defendant contends the prosecutor was testifying, his arguments
were actually accurate statements of the evidence and/or reasonable inferences from
witness testimony." 65
Mr. Anderson claims hi:; "remarks were fully supported by material within the record."
This is simply not true. Once again, Mr. Anderson is mischaracterizing the evidence and
twisting it to fit his contentions. His arguments were not "accurate statements of the evidence
and/or reasonable inferences from witness testimony."

Strickland v. Washington, Pp. 466 U. S. 691-696. (1984)
65 SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
64

to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 39. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
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Mr. Anderson gives some examples to support his statement that his "remarks" were
"accurate statements of the evidence and/or reasonable inferences from witness testimony." He
first argues that "the Defendant alleges that the prosecutor improperly "testified" when he
discussed how IP addresses are the means by which computers utilizing the Internet recognize
one another."

66

This is becoming extremely annoying. That is not what I alleged in my § 2255 motion.
What I pointed out is that Mr. Anderson, rather than the government's forensic computer expert,
refuted Ms. Loehrs' testimony that a publicly broadcast IP address makes your computer
vulnerable. Just because "IP addresses are the means by which computers utilizing the Internet
recognize one another," doesn't mean that they are normally publicly broadcast. Mr. Anderson's
testimony that "IP addresses are publicly available" was not something that was testified to by
any expert and it is simply not true. Mr. Anderson "mischaracterized" this evidence in an
attempt to discredit Ms. Loehrs, and now he is "mischaracterizing" what is contained in my §
2255 motion regarding this issue.
Mr. Anderson next argues that "the Defendant also alleges that the prosecutor improperly
"testified" during his closing when he stated that it is not Limewire, but the files that Limewire
introduces to a computer, that pose a danger. Again, Ms. Loehrs' testimony supports that
notion."

66
67

67

Ibid. Page 40.
Ibid.
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Again, Ms. Loehrs' testimony does not support that notion. Her testimony was that
Limewire is vulnerable to all kinds of security risks, and that the version of Limewire installed
on my computer "was vulnerable to attack from the outside that would allow people to get in." 68
When Mr. Anderson stated in his closing that, "Limewire has nothing to do with whether
or not a computer is vulnerable,,,69 he was refuting testimony by Ms. Loehrs that the
government's forensic computer experts could not dispute. Mr. Anderson's statement that, "Ms.
Loehrs' testimony supports that notion," is entirely untrue.
Mr. Anderson's next example to support his statement that his "remarks" were "accurate
statements of the evidence and/or reasonable inferences from witness testimony," is as follows:
The Defendant also claims that the prosecutor was offering testimony concerning the
subject of open ports on the Defendant's computer. During his closing, the prosecutor
stated that Ms. Loehrs did not give one specific example of an open port on the
Defendant's computer that was open and subject to attack." 70
Mr. Anderson, rather than a government forensic computer expert, then comes to the conclusion
that, "All Ms. Loehrs had to offer on the subject of port 43110 was pure, unadulterated
speculation."
Once again in the govemment's response, Mr. Anderson is mischaracterizing the
evidence. As presented in my § 2255 motion, Ms. Loehrs did give one specific example of an

USA v SOLON. District of Wyoming. Case No. 07-CR-032B. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume V. Page 24,
Lines 4-23. November 7, 2008.
69 ibid. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume VI. Page 24, Lines 13-15. November 10,2008.
70 SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate: Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Pages 40-41. Document 15. Filed
4/12/2012.
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open port that was vulnerable to attack. It is a total falsehood to state that that all she had to offer
on the subject was "pure, unadulterated speculation." The undisputed testimony of Ms. Loehrs
was that port 43110 was an "unassigned port which makes it kind of a vulnerable port.,,71 Mr.
Anderson is the only person to dispute this testimony.
In Mr. Anderson's final example he states that "the Defendant argues that the prosecutor
improperly testified concerning the AVAST anti-virus software that was present on the
Defendant's computer." To contest this challenge, Mr. Anderson claims his "comments were
based upon facts in evidence or were reasonable inferences based upon evidence within the
record."n He further argues that, "Clearly, comments by the prosecutor that the anti-virus
program was working properly were in line with the testimony of Agent Huff.,,73
As has been pointed out earlier in this reply, Agent Huff's testimony that the AVAST
anti-virus software was working properly was refuted by the government's own evidence,
Exhibit 39. Not one government forensic computer expert ever took the stand to explain the
government's conflicting evidence. Not one government forensic computer expert ever took the
stand to refute Ms. Loehrs' testimony that the AVAST anti-virus software was not working
properly.
Mr. Anderson's claim that his statements regarding Agent Huffs disputed testimony
were a "reasonable inference based upon evidence within the record" is misleading, to say the
71

USA v SOLON. District of Wyoming. Case No. 07-CR-032B. Transcript of Trial Proceedings. Volume V. Page

21, Line 6 to and including Page 22, line 17. November 7,2008.
SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.S.c. § 2255. Page 41. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
73 Ibid. Page 42.
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least. Mr. Anderson's statements not only refuted Ms. Loehrs' testimony, they refuted the
government's own evidence.
In conclusion-- my motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 demonstrates that the prosecutor's
statements during closing arguments were egregious, that my attorneys were deficient in not
objecting and/or bringing this

i~;sue

up on appeal, and that "there is a reasonable probability that,

but for counsel's unprofessionaJ errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.,,74
I disagree with the government's assertions that, "Although properly before the court, this
claim must fail." 75 I hereby request an evidentiary hearing on this matter.

IV.

GROUND TWO, CHALLENGE I: INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL
COUNSEL
In this challenge in my

~i

2255 motion I argue that trial counsel was ineffective for not

obtaining funcling for Ms. Loehrs to complete her examination of the evidence. Trial counsel
was also ineffective in his COIllI1ilunications with Ms. Loehrs. Because of that, there was
confusion surrounding the issue, which resulted in the court repeatedly admonishing Ms. Loehrs
about her statements that her funding had been stopped.
In the government's response to my § 2255 motion, Mr. Anderson basically presents the
same argument I presented, which are the facts surrounding this issue. However, the government

Strickland v. Washington, Pp. 466 U. S. 691-696. (1984)
SOLON v USA. District of Wyoming. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate Sentence under 28 U.s.c. § 2255. Page 36. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012.
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contends that "it was not until the fourth day of trial that the claim was made by Ms. Loehrs that
she needed more time to compLete her work."

76

This is simply not true. The fourth day of the trial was November 6, 2008. As has been
presented in my § 2255 motion, the court was made aware of Ms. Loehrs' need to do more work
in a hearing held on April 16, :;:008. The court told trial attorney that more work needed to be
done and informed him how to get the funding for Ms. Loehrs to complete her work. Even so,
the trial attorney shouldn't hav,~ to be told that Ms. Loehrs needed to do more work. It was clear
that Ms. Loehrs had not yet fouod the source of the child pornography and that further
examination was essential.
The government argues in their response that "through the efforts of his attorneys, the
Defendant was afforded the

ba~;ic

and integral tools necessary to mounting a defense. Trial

counsel sought and employed not one, but, all told, three computer experts on behalf of the
Defendant."

77

The government is wrong. The Defendant was not afforded the basic and integral tools
necessary to mounting a defem.e. No one knows how child pornography got on my computer. I
repeat-no one. The government doesn't know. The defendant and his team don't know.
Absolutely no one knows for sure how it got there. Both sides admit it can take hundreds of
hours to find that answer, but no one knows for sure exactly how long it would take. You just
have to begin searching and keep searching until the answer is found.

76
77
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It is the goverrunent' s j ob to do that before they charge someone with a crime and ruin

their life. It should not be the job of a Defendant to have to go out and figure out what happened
in order to mount a defense, but in this case, that is exactly what happened.
Because the government wasn't searching for the answer as to how child pornography
got on that computer, the defense was left to figure it out. The defense was allowed funding to
do exactly that, but it was the failure of trial counsel to find out exactly what steps needed to be
taken to fmd an answer, and then initiate the funding so those steps could be taken, that caused
the defense to have to do the smne thing the government was doing - use speculation.
The goverrunent further contends:
"Additionally, even if trial counsel's perfonnance in regards to his employment of Ms.
Loehrs somehow fell below that "broad range of reasonable professional competence"
required by Strickland, the Defendant cannot in any event establish prejudice. 78
The fact that no one knows how child pornography got on my computer establishes prejudice. I
was convicted without sufficient evidence. If that isn't prejudice, I don't know what is. My
conviction is a direct result of my trial attorney failing to get the necessary funding to get to the
bottom of how child pornography got on my computer. Granted, it should be the goverrunent
who does this type of examination before bringing charges, but since that obviously wasn't going
to happen, the burden fell on my defense team. The defense was offered the funding to do just
that, but failed to use it.

78

Ibid.
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I disagree with the government's assertion that this claim must be denied. I hereby
request an evidentiary hearing on this matter.

v.

GROUND SIX: JURY PREJUDICE
In this challenge in my

~?

2255 motion I claim that my constitutional rights to a fair trial

by an impartial jury were violated when the jury was prejudiced into reaching a verdict of guilty.
As the Supreme Court stated in Strickland, "A court hearing an ineffectiveness claim must
consider the totality of the evidence before the judge or jury." 79
In this challenge I presented a number of events that caused the jury to become
prejudiced. Most of these events were addressed under various other challenges in my § 2255
motion, but in the end it is the ineffectiveness of my attorneys that allowed the events to happen
that caused the jury to be prejud.iced into reaching a guilty verdict. In the case of jury prejudice,
the totality of the evidence needs to be considered.
White v. Bloom, 621 F.201 276 states: "A court faced with a motion to dismiss a pro se
complaint must read the complaint's allegations expansively, Haines v. Kerner, 404 U.S. 519,
520-21, 92 S. Ct. 594, 596, 30 1.. Ed. 2d 652 (1972), and take them as true for purposes of
deciding whether they state a claim. Cruz v. Beto, 405 U.S. 319, 322, 92 S. Ct. 1079, 1081, 31 L.
Ed. 2d 263 (1972)."
The govenunent states in their response that "the United States has previously addressed
the issues raised by the Defendant concerning the allegations he makes against the prosecutor

79
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and his own trial attorney. See above at II.B.1-9, at 14-43, and II.C.1-5, at 43-57."

80

The

government may have addressed those issues previously, but these issues weren't addressed in
regards to jury prejudice.
The government further argues "the alleged prejudice the Defendant claims the trial court
created by its decision to strike the testimony of Ms. Loehrs was part and parcel of the
Defendant's direct appeal on the issue of structural error." The government further contends that
"the Tenth Circuit rejected this argument," and "since this issue was litigated in the Defendant's
direct appeal, it cannot be reconsidered here. United States v. Warner, 23 F.3d at 291."

81

Again, this is not true. In my § 2255 motion I do not allege the trial court created
prejudice by "its decision to strike the testimony of Ms. Loehrs." I alleged prejudice was created
by the manner in which the court struck down the testimony of Ms. Loehrs, not that the decision
itself created prejudice.
Also in contrast to what the government claims, the issue ofjury prejudice created by the
court was not part of my direct appeal, therefore this issue was not litigated in the direct appeal.
What was litigated in direct appeal was the issue of the presiding judge committing structural
error when he left the courtroom during defense counsel's closing argument. This is only a small
part of the bigger issue ofjury prejudice.
The government concludes that "all of the cognizable claims that the Defendant raises in
this "Ground" have previously been addressed in this response and shown to have no merit or are
SOLON v USA. District of WyominH. Civil No. ll-CV-303-B, Criminal No. 07-CR-0032-B. United States' Response
to the Defendant's Motion to Vacate~ Sentence under 28 U.s.c. § 2255. Page 78. Document 15. Filed 4/12/2012..
81 Ibid.
80
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procedurally barred. The Defendant is not entitled to any relief based upon the issues he has
presented here.,,82 I disagree with the government's assumptions and hereby request an
evidentiary hearing.

VI.

GROUND FOUR, CHALLENGE I: MISHANDLING OF THE HARD DRIVE
In my § 2255 motion I put forth the challenge that my hard drive was compromised when

Agent Huff, in BAD FAITH, connected it to something other than my computer system without
the protection of a write-block device in order to forensically examine it.
The government responded that this did not happen and provided an affidavit from Agent
Balliett stating as much. This affidavit from Agent Balliett doesn't make sense. It would seem
her recollection of events would be much clearer immediately after the incident, rather than six
years later.
The government made It very clear how important it is to use the write-block device. It
doesn't make any sense that both Agent Balliett in her Investigation Report and Agent Huff in
his testimony would fail to mention the write-block device was used. Instead, if you believe the
government's story, both oftht:m failed to mention that a write-block device was used in the first
instance, but then professed its use in the second instance. Not only that, but well over a year
had passed in between the time Agent Balliett failed to mention it in her report and the time
Agent Huff failed to mention it in his testimony. Yet both of them remembered to mention its
use in the second instance.

82

Ibid. Page 79.
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Now rather than believing a report that was written shortly after the incident, we are told
we should believe an affidavit that is submitted six years later. With all the cases Agent Balliett
worked on, it is amazing she CcTI remember this particular case and that particular incident.
Agent Balliett's affidavit is also suspect in that it is from her, rather than from the agent
who supposedly used a write-block device. Where is the affidavit from Agent Huff? I believe
he is still among the living. Could it be that Agent Huff couldn't submit that the write-block
device was used?
Finally, Agent Balliett 2ldmitted in testimony that she is not always truthful in her
affidavits, as is evidenced in her affidavit submitted to obtain the search warrant.
The government states in its response that "Agent Huff did not somehow cause child
pornography to be transferred to the Defendant's hard drive, as the Defendant implies in his
memorandum. Defendant's Memorandum, at 152." 83 We do not know that. The evidence
points to the hard drive being forensically examined without the protection of a write-block
device. I hereby request an evidentiary hearing on this issue.

VII.

GROUND ONE, CHALLENGES III AND VI: FALSIFICATION OF EVIDENCE
AND SUPPRESSION OF MATERIAL EVIDENCE
These challenges have to do with facts leading up to my first trial scheduled for October

2007. The government states that "the Defendant was subsequently allowed by the court to
withdraw his guilty plea and proceed to trial. Thus, he cannot show he was prejudiced by

83
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The government may be correct, however, these facts are indicative

of the gross conduct the prosecutor employed throughout this entire case and should be
addressed.
In regards to Ground One, Challenge III, the government states:
By way of background, the Defendant's first trial was set to commence on October 2,
2007. During the weekend leading up to the Defendant's trial, the case agents examining
the Defendant's hard dlive discovered a registry created by the Defendant's operating
system that indicated a software program used to "burn" or create CDs was accessed on
the evening of September 20, 2006 (Doc. 50). However, it is important to note that while
the CD bU111ing software was accessed, there is no evidence to show that a CD was - or
was not - created. Thus, in the prosecutor's statement, the government drew an inference
that the Defendant had been creating CDs based upon the downloading of the child
pornography, the acces:;ing of the CD burning software, and the subsequent deletion of
the child pornography images from the Defendant's hard drive." 85
The government is stating that even though there is no evidence to show that a CD
containing child pornography was created, there is evidence "that indicated a software program
used to "burn" or create CDs was accessed on the evening of September 20,2006."
For the umpteenth time in this reply, this is simply not true. There is absolutely no
evidence to show CD burning software was accessed on the evening of September 20, 2006.
That was testified to at trial by both sides. The government could not have drawn an inference
that I burned CDs containing child pornography when there was absolutely no evidence that the
software that would been used to do that had been accessed.

84

85
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The government's assertion to my attorney that they had evidence I had used CD burning
software to make copies of child pornography was such a flagrant false statement of facts, that it
should not be allowed to stand. It is indicative of the tactics used by the government throughout
this entire proceeding.
In regards to Ground One, Challenge VI, the government states:
"According to the Defendant, the material evidence the prosecutor suppressed was the
fact that a duplicate forensic copy of the Defendant's hard drive was made by DCI agents
as part of the forensic exam of the Defendant's hard drive. According to the Defendant,
"[the trial prosecutor] kept Agent Huffs copy secret, which left it solely in the hands of
the prosecution, violatulg my Fifth Amendment right to due process." 86
In their response the government admits they retained evidence that should have been
turned over to the court.
"Prior to the order of th~ court, in fact, and within forty-eight hours of the seizure of the
hard drive, a forensic copy ofthe hard drive had been made. The forensic copy of the
hard drive remained in 1he custody of DCI throughout the proceedings. But, once the
court ordered that the original hard drive be placed in the re~istry of the court, the
forensic copy was segregated and not accessed by anyone." 7
Even though they suppressed evidence, the government contends it doesn't matter
because:
"The court modified its original order of June 11, 2007, and on March 5, 2007, entered an
order that provided that the government could have unfettered access to the forensic hard
drive for forensic exam purposes (Doc. 66). Thereafter, the DCI agents again accessed
the forensic copy of the hard drive, as did defense experts." 88

86

87
88

Ibid. Page 23.
Ibid. Page 24.
Ibid. Page 24.
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In that statement, there is a typographical error. The original order was modified on
March 5, 2008, rather than March 5, 2007, as is stated in the government's response. However,
their statement that, "once the court ordered that the original hard drive be placed in the registry
of the court, the forensic copy was segregated and not accessed by anyone,"

89

is a complete

falsehood, that surprisingly, the government admits to in their response to Ground One,
Challenge III. Again, in that part of their response, they state:
"The Defendant's first trial was set to commence on October 2,2007. During the
weekend leading up to the Defendant's trial, the case agents examining the Defendant's
hard drive discovered a registry created by the Defendant's operating system that
indicated a software program used to "burn" or create CDs was accessed on the evening
of September 20,2006 (Doc. 50)." 90
At that particular time, there was a court order requiring all sides be present when the
evidence is examined. During the weekend leading up to my trial, government agents were
examining the evidence that should have been turned over as ordered by the court. In violation
of this court order, they not only did not tum over this copy of the hard drive, but in violation of
that court order they also examined it without the defense or a court expert present.
The government's statement that "once the court ordered that the original hard drive be
placed in the registry of the court, the forensic copy was segregated and not accessed by
anyone," 91 is false statement and the government's actions were a violation of a court order.
Even though I may

e not ultimately been prejudiced by these actions, this should not be

allowed to stand. The government should be held in contempt of court.
89
90

91

Ibid. Page 24.
Ibid. Page 17.
Ibid. Page 24.
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Again, these issues are being addressed because they are a flagrant indication of the
behavior exhibited by the government throughout this entire case. Not only that, they are yet
another example of the untruths and misrepresentations that penneate the government's response
to my motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255.
CONCLUSION
When ruining lives, the Government has a responsibility to see that "justice shall be
done.,,92
"The United States Attorney is the representative not of an ordinary party to a
controversy, but of a sovereignty whose obligation to govern impartially is as compelling
as its obligation to govern at all; and whose interest, therefore, in a criminal prosecution
is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done. As such, he is in a peculiar
and very defmite sense the servant of the law, the twofold aim of which is that guilt shall
not escape or innocence suffer. He may prosecute with earnestness and vigor-indeed,
he should do so. But, while he may strike hard blows, he is not at liberty to strike foul
ones. It is as much his duty to refrain from improper methods calculated to produce a
wrongful conviction as it is to use every legitimate means to bring about a just one.'.93
The government's response to my motion under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 to have my
conviction and sentence in this case set aside is filled with misstatements, inaccuracies, and
misrepresentations. One has to wonder why they would need to do that if the truth is on their
side.

Berger v. United States. 95 U.S. 78 - Berger v. United State. 55 S CT 629. George Sutherland, Justice. April 15,
1935.
93 ibid. Berger v. United States. April 15, 1935.

92
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Needless to say, I disagree with the government's assertions that this motion under 28
U.S.C. § 2255 be denied. I hereby request that my § 2255 motion be granted, or in the
alternative, an evidentiary hearing be held in regards to these matters.
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DATEDthis";,<3- daycf

A~L>~,r:20l2.
Respectfully submitted,

NATHANIEL E. SOLON, Petitioner
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Jim Anderson
U.S. Attorney's Office
PO Box 668
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